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  An England Cap




  Every young cricketer growing up in England wants to play Test cricket for their country. I was no different. That was always my ultimate dream. And I know how lucky I am to

  have realised that dream.




  But there is a flip side to that. For those lucky enough to play for England, there is also the ultimate nightmare. It is the ignominy of being dropped. It happened to me in the early days of

  2008 when I was dropped from the England Test team. I was actually in New York at the time, having taken my then fiancée Emily there as a present after Christmas.




  We had arrived only the day before. I rose the next morning rather tired, and checked my mobile phone. There were about 20 missed calls showing on it. Most of them were from my mentor and then

  manager, Alec Stewart. Some were from David Graveney, the chairman of selectors.




  There was also a text from Alec: ‘Give me a call as soon as possible, mate,’ it read. ‘You’re not in the squads.’




  What? Surely I was going to New Zealand with the England team. Just before I had left for New York, I had received another text, from the late Christopher

  Martin-Jenkins, father of Robin, with whom I played at Sussex, and then still the chief cricket correspondent of The Times. We had not seen much of each other on the tour of Sri Lanka that

  had just ended before Christmas, and he wrote something along the lines of: ‘Sorry that we didn’t catch up in Sri Lanka, but I look forward to seeing you in New Zealand.’




  I took that to mean that I was fine, and that my place was safe. I felt sure that CMJ would have known what was going on, as I was convinced that he would have had the inside track. He almost

  always did, being probably the most respected journalist or broadcaster on the circuit.




  Therefore it was with great sadness and shock that I learnt on New Year’s Day 2013 that he had passed away. I was in Australia at the time, playing in the Big Bash League Twenty20

  competition for Sydney Thunder, and when I returned home in early January I found that, before his death, CMJ had sent me, with a personal note inside, a copy of his book, CMJ: A Cricketing

  Life, which had been published in April the previous year. It was incredibly poignant reading the book afterwards. He loved cricket and he loved Sussex, and he will be much missed.




  Talking of the death of such a wonderful man puts things into perspective, and looking back at my reaction to the news that I had been dropped by England might seem a little over the top. But it

  was still a huge blow at the time. I was in New York and suddenly having to come to terms with the fact that I was out of the England team. It was awful. I phoned Stewie and he told me that the

  squad had just been announced. Tim Ambrose and Phil Mustard were going to be the wicketkeepers in New Zealand. It was public knowledge: I had been axed.




  At that moment my cricketing world fell apart. I can honestly say that I thought I would never play for England again. It was over.




  No one should ever underestimate the effect being dropped can have on you. Mentally it can leave the deepest scars. I’ve seen it happen to other players so many times. They come into the

  England side and do reasonably well, but then the axe suddenly falls, and it is as if they have been chewed up and spat out again. Some just never come to terms with being left out by England.




  Out in New York, I was struggling to come to terms with it. I was questioning everything about myself and my cricket. Was it all worth it? Wouldn’t I be better off having a go at baseball?

  ‘I wonder if the New York Yankees fancy giving me a trial?’ I thought.




  I was that down, I tell you. OK, it wasn’t that long before I realised that I probably wasn’t going to be a Major League baseball star, and that cricket was probably a better way

  forward, but it took an awful lot longer for me to convince myself that I wanted to be a wicketkeeper any more.




  Yes, I was very close to knocking keeping on the head for good. At one stage, I had decided that I was going to be just a batsman. I had decided that I was going to force the selectors to pick

  me solely as a batsman, and in order to do that I had to a Ramps.




  Mark Ramprakash had finished the 2007 season with 2,026 first-class runs, including ten centuries, at an average of 101.30. That was the second season in a row that he had averaged over 100, and

  despite his age – he was 38 then – there was still talk about him being recalled for England. I decided that my goal was to be the best batsman in county cricket. I had to be as good

  as, if not better than, Ramps.




  But then I spoke to Alec Stewart again and he persuaded me not to give up keeping just yet. He said: ‘Do yourself and do me a favour and have one more year at it. And, if you do that, make

  sure you give it absolutely everything. If, after that, you can look me in the eye and say that you have given it everything, but it hasn’t worked out, then

  fine.’




  It was obvious that I had been dropped because of my wicket-keeping. After all, I had played ten Tests and was averaging 40.14 with the bat. I had done well on the tour to Sri Lanka too, being

  third in the averages behind Alastair Cook and Ian Bell, having scored two fifties for an average of 41.25.




  I had missed the one-day series that preceded the Tests (which had been won 3-2) because I had broken my thumb in practice at the ICC World Twenty20 in South Africa, leaving Vikram Solanki to

  keep wicket in our last two Super Eight matches against New Zealand and India. The Colonel (Mustard) had then kept wicket in those one-dayers in Sri Lanka.




  But when I returned from that injury I really felt that I had made strides with my batting in the Tests. I had changed my method considerably. I had had to rein myself in against the spinners,

  and I thought I had dealt with Muttiah Muralitharan pretty well.




  His 19 wickets in the series were obviously crucial in Sri Lanka’s 1-0 victory, but I had been especially proud of my efforts in the first Test at Kandy, where I’d batted with Ian

  Bell for more than two and a half hours on the last afternoon and into the evening session, as we attempted to save the Test.




  I worked so hard in that innings. Our captain Michael Vaughan had told us at the start of the day that we had to fight, and that’s what we did. I’d been hit on the head by a bouncer

  from Dilhara Fernando, and against Muralitharan it was a real war of attrition, but, in such tricky conditions, I took a huge amount from my innings of 63. Sadly, I was eventually bowled by a

  Muralitharan ‘doosra’ that I didn’t pick, and Belly went just eight balls later for 74, and Sri Lanka ended up winning by 88 runs.




  It was the third Test in Galle that proved my downfall. I dropped three catches there: Mahela Jayawardena twice and Tillekeratne Dilshan once. The problem was that when

  Sri Lanka declared on 499 for eight, Jayawardene was still there with 213 not out, and Dilshan made 84.




  Whenever you drop a batsman, you are praying for the next 15 minutes or so that he gets out so that no one will remember the drop. Unfortunately, I spent rather more than quarter of an hour in

  that Test praying for those two to get out.




  What made it worse was that I took a stunning catch down the leg side off Matthew Hoggard in that innings, but it wasn’t given out. I thought it was a clear glove from Dilshan, and to this

  day, as I dived a long way to reach it one-handed, it remains one of the best catches I have ever taken, but for some reason the umpire, in the days before the Decision Review System, did not give

  it out. All I remember thinking was: ‘Somebody give me a break here, please!’




  It is hard enough keeping in Asia as it is. There is the obvious heat and humidity but also, because the ball generally keeps so low, it means that you have to stand closer to the stumps than

  you normally would. And you have to stay lower for longer, which works the legs harder. Not that fielding in general in these conditions is easy. I think we missed 12 chances in total in that

  series. It was not just me who made mistakes!




  I had kept well in that first Test in Kandy and decently in the second Test in Colombo, where the heat was stifling and we were in the field for nearly 187 overs, after I’d batted from the

  previous afternoon and was last man out for 79. I still conceded only seven byes.




  Everyone said I had kept terribly after my mistakes in Galle, where, if I’m honest, I was shattered, but I actually conceded only one bye in nearly 149 overs there. And at the end of the

  tour my opposite number, Kumar Sangakkara, had said to me: ‘You’ve done brilliantly, because Sri Lanka is the hardest place in the world to keep wicket.’

  That was a massive compliment from someone who had plenty of experience.




  That is not to say that I wasn’t aware that there were flaws in my wicketkeeping technique. Of course there were. And when you are placed under extreme pressure, it is then that your flaws

  will show up most. I had been placed under pressure in Galle and my flaws had been revealed.




  My biggest flaw then? To be honest, it was the fact that I still considered myself a batsman who also did a bit of wicketkeeping. I simply didn’t do enough work on my keeping in those

  days. I can see that looking back now. Wicketkeeping is just so much about volume of work.




  In fact, I have to say that I reckon I actually did pretty well to play ten Tests with my keeping in the state that it was and the amount of work I used to do. I can’t believe I got as far

  as I did.




  As a youngster I was always a fielder. I loved fielding and I fell into wicketkeeping only by accident. I was playing an Under-13s match for Sussex one day and our wicketkeeper, a lad by the

  name of Tom Dowdall, was delayed in traffic and our coach, David Randall, asked who fancied having a go behind the stumps. I volunteered. ‘I’ll have a go,’ I said. It sounded like

  fun.




  And it was. I really enjoyed keeping that day. David was impressed. He saw something in me. He said to me: ‘I reckon you should give it a go.’




  Before I knew it I was at the County Ground at Hove having my first coaching session with none other than Peter Moores, who was then still on the Sussex playing staff. It was the first time I

  had ever met him. Who would have thought then that one day he would be coach of the England team in which I was keeping wicket? He became my mentor.




  Our first session was supposed to last only an hour. Long after that, I was still there diving around on the mats. I was absolutely loving it. I walked away thinking:

  ‘I really like this keeping lark.’ But, first and foremost, I was still a batsman. And in truth I never kept up the enthusiasm I showed in that first session with Pete. I didn’t

  put in the work I needed to. I have always had decent hands and for most of the time I relied on natural ability to get me through.




  And it was natural ability that got me through to an England Test cap. That came in the summer of 2007 in the first Test against West Indies at Lord’s. I’d already played 12 one-day

  internationals by then, but I had kept wicket in only one of them – at Jamshedpur in India in 2006.




  I’d made my one-day debut in Zimbabwe in the fourth and last limited-overs international of the very nearly cancelled tour of late 2004. But, if I’m honest, it didn’t really

  feel like an international debut. Because of the political problems there, which meant that we were delayed in Johannesburg en route after the Zimbabwean authorities said they were not going to

  allow some journalists in to cover the tour, the five-match series was reduced to four.




  And some key players, such as Andrew Flintoff, Marcus Trescothick and Steve Harmison, missed the tour, either because they were rested or because they objected on moral grounds. That was the

  only reason I got my chance, I suppose, although it is worth pointing out that Kevin Pietersen also made his international debut on that trip. It was a strange tour in other ways, too, because we

  were basically told that we couldn’t be seen to be enjoying ourselves. There was to be no golf or anything like that. It was just hotels, coaches and cricket grounds. And serious faces.




  Because of those factors, when I played in Bulawayo it felt like a lesser deal than a county match. There were probably fewer people watching for a start. It was certainly not as I imagined

  playing for England would be, with packed grounds and a great atmosphere.




  That feeling came in Lahore the following year when I played against Pakistan. The crowd and its noise, along with Shoaib Akhtar steaming in to open the bowling as I

  opened the batting with Marcus Trescothick, made it feel as if I was playing international cricket for sure. I made 45 that day, and I’d made 35 on debut. Sadly, that has been the story of my

  England limited-overs career. I have always been able to ‘get in’, but the big scores have proved so elusive. As I write I have played 68 one-day internationals, and yet I have made

  only three fifties in that time, with a best of 87. It is baffling.




  Well, I know what the problem was early on in my career. Then I was mainly opening – in fact in all but two of those 12 matches before my Test debut I had opened – and I was given

  the role of ‘pinch-hitter’. I would go in and play a lot of big shots that would come off, but then, once the fielding restrictions were lifted and field was set back, I did not change

  back down the gears and knock the ball around. You just cannot keep playing big shots. Your luck will run out sooner or later.




  That was the problem early on. In latter times I’m not so sure what it has been. It has been a huge frustration, I know that. I’ve done really well for Sussex in one-day cricket and

  Twenty20, but just haven’t been able to translate that into international cricket.




  At least getting those solid scores early on gave me the confidence that I could play international cricket. I was facing some serious bowlers such as Akhtar, Rana Naved-ul-Hasan (with whom I

  played at Sussex), Mohammad Sami and Abdul Razzaq in Pakistan, and then in India Irfan Pathan and Sri Sreesanth. I was doing OK against them. I just needed that substantial score.




  Fortunately that was not a problem in Test cricket. I began this chapter talking about the dream of playing Test cricket. Well, that dream becomes even wilder when you think of scoring a century

  on Test debut, and at Lord’s, too. It is a cricketer’s wildest dream probably. And, remarkably, it came true for me.




  




  I thought I deserved to play in that first Test of the 2007 summer against West Indies. I reckon I had been knocking on the door for a while. There had been some talk before the Ashes tour of

  the previous winter that I might have been on that trip (I had been the reserve wicketkeeper on the Test tours to Pakistan and India in the winter of 2005-06). But the selectors went with Geraint

  Jones (who had played in the 2005 Ashes) and Chris Read instead.




  I had set myself the goal of playing in the first Test of the 2007 summer at the end of the 2006 season, so it was not a huge setback. I still went to Australia, but with the 14-man National

  Academy squad that was based in Perth for five weeks during the Ashes under Academy director Peter Moores and batting coach Andy Flower. I thought I might have had a chance for the Commonwealth

  Bank one-day series (also featuring New Zealand) that followed the Ashes, and indeed the World Cup in the Caribbean that followed that, but Paul Nixon was picked instead.




  Of course, as we all know now, the winter as a whole went as badly as it possibly could. By the end of it, Duncan Fletcher had gone as coach and it was obvious to me that the Test team would be

  looking for a new wicketkeeper. That winter was a busy one for me, as I had also gone to Bangladesh in February and March with the A team, as it was still called then, and had done well, being the

  leading run-scorer on the tour overall.




  With Fletcher gone, Mooresy stepped up to take charge of the England side, and I know it was widely perceived that I was selected only because of my obvious closeness to him. I was certainly

  well aware of that when I was being interviewed beforehand.




  ‘I’d like to think that it is hard work and performance that has got me into the side rather than my link to Peter Moores,’ I said. ‘I am averaging nearly forty in

  first-class cricket and I had a great winter tour in Bangladesh, and everyone has stated that runs are important for a wicketkeeper. Mooresy was my first keeping coach.

  He is a fantastic coach and will have a good effect on anyone. He is a very important role model in my keeping. It is going to be nice to have him there in the changing room, but the main thing is

  to feel confident in myself. The catches and the runs are in the middle.’




  There also seemed to be a lot of questions about how noisy I was on the field. There were comparisons with Nixon, or the Badger, as everyone was calling him then.




  ‘I’m naturally outspoken, especially on the pitch, and I like to give out as much energy as possible,’ I said. ‘There are different ways you can do it and I’m not

  necessarily talking about sledging, but trying to have a presence on the field is part of my game and something I feel I’m good at. The role of the keeper now includes trying to get the other

  guys buzzing around. Without having to say too much, you can create an intense atmosphere and get in the opposition’s faces. Am I noisier than Nixon? Watch the game and then you tell

  me.’




  Looking back now, and knowing what was to happen later that summer against India, I wish I hadn’t said some of those things. But I was young and excitable. I’d been picked to play

  Test cricket for England. I was buzzing. And, yes, I could be a little noisy in those days.




  As Robin Martin-Jenkins said of my selection: ‘If you want your keeper to make noise on the pitch, Prior’s your man. He may not be in the same league as the certifiably insane Jack

  Russell or Paul Nixon, but his vocal chords get plenty of exercise.’




  Ha! Cheers, Tucker.




  I also said to the press: ‘I think consistency is the difference between an international and a county cricketer – both the performances and how you behave as a person day in and day

  out. This is an area I have targeted. I have wanted to make sure that when I step out on to the pitch that I am ready to do this, not just to try and survive but to

  compete.’




  The first part of that quote is interesting, because I hadn’t actually had a great start to the season with the bat. I’d got a hundred for Sussex in a pre-season warm-up match

  against Surrey, but in ten competitive innings before the Test against West Indies I hadn’t made a fifty.




  The last part of that quote was very important to me, though. I’d received the call from David Graveney saying that I had been selected. And naturally I was extremely excited. I rang my

  mum and dad, and the third person I phoned was Alec Stewart. But then later that day it sunk in. I thought: ‘Right, I’ve got to go and play now.’ It’s all right being

  selected, but then you’ve got to go and perform. I think that it is one of my strengths that I never want just to be a number in a team. I have always wanted to be a person that is a big part

  of that team, someone that can make a significant contribution and make a difference. So, for me, getting selected wasn’t even half the journey.




  That said, it was a special moment when Andrew Strauss (captaining in place of the injured Michael Vaughan) and Grav presented me, a rather happy 25-year-old dressed in my England blazer over my

  cricket whites, with my England Test cap on the outfield at Lord’s on Thursday 17 May 2007. I still wear that cap on the field now.




  I was the 635th player to be capped by England in Tests. That number – 635 – was there on my shirts below the badge of the crown and three Lions. And below that on my short-sleeved

  batting shirt, as did all of our team in that match as a show of support, I attached a yellow ribbon for Madeleine McCann, the four-year-old English girl who had gone missing. It was the least we

  could do at such a terrible time, which, tragically, continues even now for her family.




  




  I then just sat back and watched. Ramnaresh Sarwan, captaining West Indies, had asked us to bat and by the end of a rain-shortened first day we were 200 for three, with Alastair Cook 102 not

  out. I did not even make it onto the field on my first day of Test cricket.




  Was that a good thing or a bad thing? No bad thing, I would say. I usually give a sigh of relief when we’re batting anyway. And it gave me time to acclimatise, to get used to the

  surroundings. I’d played at Lord’s for Sussex before, but this was rather different.




  The ten minutes before the toss are always the most nerve-wracking, whether it is your debut or not. Any cricketer will tell you that. It is that uncertainty that is so hard to deal with. What

  are we doing? Are we batting or bowling? If we lose the toss in any match and are asked to field, I will admit that my default reaction as a wicketkeeper is to swear a bit. But then it is straight

  into a routine that never alters, ending with the slamming of my own cricket ball that I always carry in my bag into my gloves just before I go out onto the field. Sometimes I might do that only

  three times, on other occasions as many as a hundred. It’s all about the feel, about the way it is hitting the gloves. I’ve just got to keep doing it until it feels right. Then I can go

  out on to the field.




  I have always had totally different gear for wicketkeeping and for batting – from shirts, trousers down to my boots. There is no difference in the type of boots – I wear half-spiked

  and half-rubber boots for both – except that I use newer pairs for batting, then, when they are more worn in, I use them for keeping. I just feel more comfortable that way. That complete

  change of clothing and gear was something I picked up from Peter Moores. He always felt it helped the change to the required mindset, so that there was no blurring of roles. You bat and you keep,

  and you wear different clothes for each.




  When I’d been selected, Alec Stewart had said something to me that I didn’t really understand at the time, but nonetheless it lodged in my mind. He said:

  ‘You will know the moment you step onto the field if you are made for Test cricket or not. If you go out there and it’s the last place on earth you want to be, then clearly you will

  struggle. But if you walk out there and you feel like you never want to leave, then it’s definitely for you.’ I think I said to him in response something like: ‘What are you on

  about?’




  I soon discovered. It was just before tea on the second day that Paul Collingwood was bowled by a good in-swinger from Dwayne Bravo for an excellent 111. We’d lost our fifth wicket. I was

  in.




  I’m not a great watcher, so I wasn’t out on the balcony observing every ball as I waited to bat. I was inside. I quite like to be involved in any conversations going on there to take

  my mind off batting. As we had been three wickets down, I’d been ready since the start of the day. Then, in terms of protective equipment, I’d just had my box, thigh pad and inner thigh

  pad on. I’d put my pads on later when Alastair Cook was fourth out for 105 in the day’s eighth over.




  I was wearing a short-sleeved shirt. I always do when I bat. But when I keep wicket, it is always a long-sleeved shirt that I wear, however hot the conditions. Sorry, but I just think it looks

  ‘village’ to wear a short-sleeved shirt when keeping. You just can’t do that. Please don’t do that, if there are any young wicketkeepers reading.




  Quite often, especially in the heat of the sub-continent, Jonathan Trott will rib me, saying: ‘Come on, mate! Wear a short-sleever and a wide-brimmed sun hat.’




  And I’ll reply: ‘OK, Trotty, I will do that if you go out to bat wearing left-handed batting pads!’ That’s how much my preparation and kit means to me. A long-sleever and

  cap it always has to be when I’m keeping.




  Oh, and as I waited to bat at Lord’s I had my sweatband on my left arm, of course. That goes on first. That’s very important. I never wear an armguard,

  although I did try one once in a National League match for Sussex in 2003 when Shoaib Akhtar was playing for Durham. I scored only two – caught behind off Akhtar – and cursed myself for

  being weak. So I’ve never worn one since.




  And I’ve never been hit there – touch wood! – although I have taken the odd blow on my back (right) elbow. Jack Russell used to wear an armguard on that back arm (left for him,

  obviously, because he was a left-hander) as well as his front arm, but I don’t think I’ll be going down that route.




  As I made my way out of the door at the rear of the England changing room at Lord’s, I was more worried about getting lost as so many players have – most famously, David Steele on

  his debut against Australia in 1975. I was OK, though. I made sure I walked down only one flight of stairs, through the noise of the Long Room, down the steps and out on to the Lord’s

  turf.




  The moment I stepped on to the outfield I felt as if I was at home.




  Stewie had been right. I remember thinking: ‘I absolutely love this.’ And I’d only taken three steps. It was just amazing. The crowd, the noise, everything was incredible.




  I took guard. I usually take a middle-stump guard, although I do move it against spinners quite often, say going over to off stump for an off spinner on a pitch that is turning a lot. Or against

  a seamer such as South Africa’s Makhaya Ntini, who used to bowl from very wide of the crease and angle the ball in, I would take an off-stump guard then too, just to straighten everything up.

  I try not to be too set in my thoughts on this and try to adapt to how the game is going and how different bowlers are bowling at me.




  But middle stump it was now. The first ball from Bravo was wide of the off stump and I just let it go through harmlessly to wicketkeeper Denesh Ramdin.




  My partner was Ian Bell, who had already passed his half-century. He was facing Daren Powell at the other end. Off the third ball of the over, he took a single. It was

  time to get off the mark now, surely. But no, I couldn’t. I’d have to wait.




  Belly faced Bravo and we took a single off the first ball of the next over from a bye down the leg side. I was facing again. Bravo ran in and bowled me a bouncer. Now, he may not be the quickest

  bowler in the world or possess the fieriest bumper, but, still, it wasn’t a bad bouncer. That was what I had been expecting all along. They always say that when you walk into Test cricket you

  should expect a few short ones. They also say that you had better make sure you play them well, otherwise you can expect a whole lot more of them!




  I thought I played it pretty well, avoiding it reasonably comfortably. Bravo clearly didn’t see it that way. He ran in and bowled me another one, and, after I had again swayed out of the

  way, this time he accompanied it with a stare. I stared back. That was what I have always done. The crowd roared. The noise was just unbelievable. As I said, I was just loving this.




  ‘I could do with getting off the mark,’ I thought to myself, though. Thankfully, the next ball came gift-wrapped. It was a nice, juicy in-swinger on my legs. I clipped it away. I was

  up and running.




  There might have been a small problem, however. There was the hint of a leading edge, as I was a little early on the stroke. The ball went in the air. It went about chest-high, in fact. And

  there was a fielder in front of square on the leg side. I’ve never told anyone this before, but I thought that I was gone. I thought I had chipped it straight to the man there. ‘I

  haven’t done that, have I?’ I said to myself. A duck on Test debut!




  Thankfully I hadn’t chipped the ball to the man there. I hadn’t got a duck on debut. The ball raced to the mid-wicket boundary, and I was away. I had my first runs in Test cricket.

  Umpire Rudi Koertzen signalled the boundary, and, out of habit, I tucked my bat under my left arm to adjust the Velcro on my left glove.




  The noise was amazing. I look back now and realise that is as good an example as I have seen in my time in the game of the fine margins on which we operate in this great game of ours. Sometimes

  it is as if you are in the hands of someone or something else. I could so easily have been caught for nought. As it was, I ended up making a century on debut, the first England wicketkeeper to do

  so, and only the third ever, so I’m told, after two Sri Lankans: Brendon Kuruppu (201 not out against New Zealand in 1986-87) and Romesh Kaluwitharana (132 not out against Australia in

  1992).




  I also learned that I became the fifth batsman to score a hundred on Test debut at Lord’s. Harry Graham (for Australia in 1893), John Hampshire (for England against West Indies in 1969),

  Sourav Ganguly (for India in 1996) and Andrew Strauss (against New Zealand in 2004) were the others.




  While we are doing the statistics, I should also mention that Belly went to make a century too, making four of us in the innings. That was only the second time in history that had been done by

  England.




  Lord’s is just such a wonderful place to bat. The pitch is good and you get real value for your shots. And on that day I just decided to play my shots. I just ‘went with it’,

  as they say. It was classic ‘see ball, hit ball’ batting.




  There were three fours in an over from Bravo, the first a drive down the ground. It may have been in the air for a while but I hit it nicely. My balance felt good. It really gave me confidence.

  Two balls later I found the third-man boundary, before following that with a pulled four. There were a lot of pull shots in that innings. Indeed, I reached my fifty with one off Powell. ‘This

  is incredible,’ I thought. ‘I’ve just got a Test fifty.’ It had taken just 55 balls and I’d hit nine fours.




  




  It was time to cash in. You have to pay due respects to your team-mates in such situations, because Cook, Collingwood and Bell had all laid the foundations for me. They had all had to bat when

  the ball had been moving around much more than it was now. I could just play my natural game, and that was because of the platform they had laid.




  Sarwan tried to slow things down a little by using his own leg-spin and the off-spin of Chris Gayle. There was no way I wanted to slow down, but there were occasions when Belly would have a

  quiet word: ‘C’mon mate, keep pushing the ones, try to milk the spinners,’ he’d say. He was fantastic, actually. He’s younger than me – if only by 45 days

  – but this was his 24th Test and it was brilliant to have someone like him out there guiding me through.




  Before I knew it, I was on 97. Ninety-seven in a Test match! I was facing Gayle. And I had a dilemma. One of my very closest friends – he was best man at my wedding, in fact – is

  Carl Hopkinson, with whom I played at Sussex, where he is now on the coaching staff. I’ve known him since we were 12 and at Brighton College together. We obviously played loads of cricket

  together, so we also talked a lot of cricket together. And we had this agreement, a pact even. If a spinner is bowling and you are 49 or 99, the easiest way to get to the milestone is to lap-sweep;

  to get down on one knee and just paddle the ball around the corner. But I was on 97. What did I do? There was no fielder 45 degrees behind square on the leg side.




  I went for it. I thought I had four, too, and my hundred, but it was stopped on the boundary (and I may just have cursed the fielder under my breath!), and I settled for two. Ninety-nine not out

  now. What to do now? Did I go for it again? The field certainly wasn’t altered, but Gayle was taking ages over this ball. He was making me wait. He was making me think.




  ‘That’s the rule,’ I thought. ‘I’m going to do it. I’m going to lap-sweep. Hoppo would be proud.’




  




  So as Gayle walked to the wicket (he doesn’t run, of course), I got down to lap-sweep. And what did he do? He only stopped, and didn’t deliver the ball. There were plenty of smiles,

  and the crowd loved it. But there was also a real battle going on inside my head. ‘Do I still do it? I’ll have to be very careful in case it is full, straight and fast,’ I

  thought.




  I was still deliberating as Gayle walked in. ‘To do it, or not to do it? Lap-sweep or not? Lap-sweep or not?




  ‘Oh, hang on. It’s short. It’s really short. In fact it’s a long hop. It’s a long hop outside off stump.’




  I wasn’t missing out on that. I whacked it through the covers for four. That was it. I’d made a Test century. And at Lord’s, too. I was going to have my name on the famous

  honours board. Every aspiring cricketer must have thought or dreamed about this moment. I certainly had. I’d imagined that I would milk the applause quite coolly; nothing too outrageous or

  out of control.




  Well, it didn’t quite happen like that. I just hit the ball and screamed. It was the sort of roar I didn’t think I had in me. Then I was jumping around like a schoolkid. I took off

  my helmet and punched the air with my bat. I raised my arms aloft, helmet in one hand, bat in the other. Then I kissed my bat, and embraced Belly before acknowledging my team-mates and the rest of

  the crowd. What a moment!




  The hundred had taken me only 105 balls. We were 515 for five. It was time to declare really, but the light was poor. So there was time for some more fun. I even brought out the reverse sweep.

  Belly’s own hundred soon followed and he finished the day 109 not out. I was 126 not out, and we walked off to a standing ovation.




  It was nice that Belly was there with me. We played a lot of schoolboy cricket against and with each other. He was always in the Midlands side and I was in the South. I remember the

  Bunbury Under-15 festival in 1997, played up in Lancashire, where I was in the South team alongside Hoppo and James Tredwell (now of Kent and England) and we were

  hammered by seven wickets by the Midlands, with Belly making 88. He was always the golden boy who everyone knew was destined to play for England. Me? They may not have been so sure about me. But

  here I was now, having made a Test hundred for England at Lord’s.




  ‘If I rewrote it all again, I don’t think I’d change a thing,’ I said afterwards to the press. And I wouldn’t.




  I was also asked about the influence of Alec Stewart upon my career. I was more than happy to talk about ‘Stewie’. I owed him so much. ‘He’s been fantastic,’ I

  said. ‘There are times when you feel a bit anxious, times where you need to ask a few questions – even little things about my keeping gloves. To have someone like Alec, with all that

  experience, at the end of the phone, to calm you down and say: “Look mate, it’ll be all right . . .” He’s a legend.’




  And soon the plaudits were ringing out for me, too. I read them all. I thought that’s what everyone did. I had no real plan in place on how to deal with the media. So I lapped up all the

  compliments. Who wouldn’t?




  People were saying: ‘We’re all done now for the next ten years; you’ll be England’s keeper-batter.’ I was the man. Life couldn’t get any better. And the next

  three Tests went well. I scored 75 at Headingley, 40 (and a duck) at Old Trafford and 62 at Durham as we won the four-match series 3-0.




  A month after the end of that rubber, we began a three-Test series against India. The first Test was drawn at Lord’s. We should have won that actually, but rain hampered us on the last

  day, as did an LBW decision – Monty Panesar on Sri Sreesanth – which looked plumb to me but was not given.




  The second Test took place at Trent Bridge. It was a match we lost by seven wickets, but it was much more than that. It was a game for which I was long remembered, for

  all the wrong reasons. It was a Test in which my reputation plumbed depths I never thought possible. In fact, I don’t think I am exaggerating if I say it was a match that began my rapid rise

  to public enemy number one.




  To describe the initial source of my character assassination – which is what it most certainly was – I need only mention two words: Jelly Beans.




  The first thing to say is that this was an ill-tempered Test all round. Sreesanth was involved in a lot of it: there was a collision with Michael Vaughan, he bowled a no-ball bouncer to Paul

  Collingwood and also accidentally beamed Kevin Pietersen. But I bet most people have already forgotten those incidents, and all they can remember is ‘Jellygate’, as it became known. And

  I also bet that most people will recall that I was involved, maybe that I was the instigator of this little prank that turned into such a huge story.




  Well, I wasn’t involved, and I wasn’t the instigator. This is what happened. It was after tea on the third day as India compiled a huge score in response to our 198 after we had been

  put in in damp, swing-friendly conditions. I had just caught V.V.S.Laxman off Chris Tremlett for 54 to make the score 464 for seven. As Zaheer Khan walked to the wicket, we took a drinks break.




  As well as drinks, some Jelly Beans were also brought out to boost our energy levels. Some of them dropped onto the floor and someone decided to kick them towards the pitch as a joke, presumably

  to wind up Zaheer. It certainly did wind him up because they had ended up right by his crease. After he’d edged his first ball down to third man for four past a diving KP in the gully, he

  went after KP, pointing his bat at him and having a real go. KP was innocent and he was saying things like: ‘You sure you’ve got the right man?’




  




  But Zaheer was not happy, because he thought we were being disrespectful by leaving the Jelly Beans around the crease. Something similar had actually happened in the series against West Indies,

  and Marlon Samuels had picked one up, said thank you and ate it!




  Zaheer did not find it quite so funny, and he was quick to show umpire Ian Howell the Jelly Beans, indicating them with his bat. Vaughany happened to be off the field at the time, so Howell

  spoke to Andrew Strauss who was in temporary charge. When Vaughany returned, the other umpire, Simon Taufel, also had a word with him. But we thought that was that. End of story. Get on with the

  game.




  Certainly what nobody remembers about that day is that I took five catches. That was the reason I was asked to do the post-match press conference. When our press liaison officer, Andrew Walpole,

  came in to tell me I was doing it, I was delighted. I thought: ‘Fantastic. They’ll want to talk about my catches and another good day for me. This Test cricket lark is great.’




  How wrong I was. All they wanted to talk about was the aggro on the field. I was asked about the incident involving Zaheer and KP. I just played dumb and said that I didn’t know what had

  started it all. I said: ‘We play the game hard, it is competitive and there’s a lot at stake. Sometimes things boil over. It’s a tough game. There are a lot of people under a lot

  of pressure. If you can do anything to get one up on your opponent, you’re going to do that, as long as it’s kept in the spirit of the game. When you are fighting that hard, no one

  wants to take a step back, but from what I saw out there, nothing went over the line.’




  On and on went this line of questioning: ‘It’s a tough game at the top end and if you don’t enjoy it, you’re going to struggle,’ I said. ‘It’s never

  nice when it’s you batting, and eleven blokes are giving you a barrage, but it comes with the territory. It’s Test cricket, it’s a hard game. We all

  want to win; we’re all playing to win. You’re going to try anything to get one up on your opponent, as long as it’s within the spirit of the game.’




  There was more: ‘It’s important to have eleven people hunting together on the pitch, creating an intensity and an environment that’s uncomfortable for people to bat in,’

  I continued. ‘It’s even more important on a flat wicket – you might still lose the session, but by holding on to that intensity, you might not lose it as heavily.’




  There was no mention of Jelly Beans at this stage. That came later in the game. And, of course, Zaheer was then wheeled out for an interview, primarily because he had taken five second-innings

  wickets to add to his four in the first innings, but also because he had something else to say about his own innings.




  ‘When I got out to the crease there were some Jelly Beans there,’ he said. ‘I just swept one off the wicket, and when I played the next ball there were some more, so obviously

  someone was chucking them from behind. I was upset about it. I went to speak to them and asked what was going on. I didn’t know exactly where they were coming from, and maybe I picked the

  wrong one, but they definitely came from a fielder and I just felt it was insulting. When I go out on to the cricket field I am serious. This is a Test match we are playing. It definitely inspired

  me to do well.’




  He was asked why he went after KP. ‘I didn’t know where exactly it was coming from,’ he said. ‘Maybe I picked the wrong one, but I was just not bothered at that time. I

  just felt it was insulting. It was definitely from a fielder, because if it was placed unknowingly, it shouldn’t have come there again when I removed it.’




  That was it. ‘Jellygate’ exploded. It was Jelly Bean Central. Because it was me who went to that press conference and because I was closest to the stumps, I was somehow implicated. I

  was the main suspect. Maybe I should have said more in that press conference. But that is not the way I go about things. I will always stand by the saying that

  ‘what happens on the pitch stays on the pitch’. You play the game hard, but I can’t stand it when people bring up things that happen on the field off it. If you maybe cross the

  line and that individual comes to corner you one on one in the dressing room, then that’s a different story. But you should never go into the media and start blurting off.




  It is reasonably common knowledge now who the culprit was in this incident, but I’m not going to name him. That is not my way. But the problem was that because I was so conscious of acting

  that way in the press conference, I didn’t actually clear my own name. And nobody else did either.




  Afterwards, we were all getting phone calls urging us to make sure that the name of the culprit didn’t come out, which was fair enough, but it still meant that everyone thought it was me.

  Nobody stuck up for me. If I had been a senior player, it might not have been so bad, but I was a junior player making my way in Test cricket. Couldn’t somebody have just said: ‘We just

  want to say it was not Matt Prior’? It’s one of the reasons why I am so precious about looking after the team ethic these days. In this instance, I felt isolated, and that

  shouldn’t happen to any player.




  Worse was to come. There then emerged a story about my sledging Sachin Tendulkar in the same game. It was alleged that I said something like ‘I drive a Porsche. What car do you

  drive?’ to Tendulkar. It was absolute garbage, of course. Again, I will tell you exactly what happened. The sponsors of England’s Test cricket were nPower at the time, and at some stage

  during our long stint in the field I said something like: ‘Come on lads, let’s look to nPower for some energy.’




  It’s the sort of thing you say in the field. Some of the chat on the field is directed at the batsman, but a lot of it is just an attempt to keep spirits up

  among the fielders. As wicketkeeper you are expected to encourage your team constantly, to be the heartbeat of the side, or, as Peter Moores always says, ‘the drummer of the band’. I

  was just doing that.




  But obviously this comment about nPower was picked up on the stump microphone, because the next morning there was a bottle of champagne waiting for me in my cricket bag. One of the main men from

  nPower had heard my comment and sent it, with a note of thanks. ‘Thanks for the plug,’ it said.




  The boys loved this. So the next day in the field, all the fielders around the bat were trying to make comments about things they might have wanted. Alastair Cook was at short leg and he quite

  fancied a Bang and Olufsen television, so he said: ‘I like Bang and Olufsen televisions,’ hoping one would magically appear underneath his peg in the dressing room the next morning. And

  then I said to him in reply that my favourite car was a Porsche Carrera.




  That was all it was, I swear. It was that innocent; just a joke between two cricketers. Why would I try to boast to Tendulkar anyway? I mean the bloke owns aeroplanes and fleets of cars. And I

  wasn’t driving a Porsche. As a team we had a deal with Volkswagen then. Now it is Jaguar.




  But, no, the story was believed and my character was duly assassinated. The criticism I got was unbelievable. I was called an ‘uneducated skinhead’ by one writer. In another paper,

  the headline to one piece read: ‘Matt Prior the buffoon should grow up.’ That was a piece by Michael Henderson in the Daily Telegraph, I think. To this day I’ve never met

  him, but I have been hoping that he would come up to me and shake my hand because he owes me an apology. It was a very, very poor piece from a man who did not know me at all.




  I suddenly realised that international cricket was a whole different ball-game from that which I had known before. My honeymoon period with the media had ended. I had

  been praised; now I was being pummelled. I was reading these pieces and I was phoning my family to ask: ‘Is this really me?’ I certainly didn’t like the person I was being

  portrayed as.




  What took me by surprise was that the people who were writing these things didn’t know me. My character was coming across as all wrong. I am not and have never been a confrontational

  bloke. I am just competitive. I don’t go out to sledge the opposition, but I’ll stand my ground if, say, a fast bowler gives me the stare. But, as I have said, I will make a noise

  behind the stumps, and increasing a batsman’s anxiety with some mild banter has been part of the game for years.




  I was just an excitable young guy playing cricket for England, and I was loving it. I was playing the role behind the stumps that the team wanted, but it was all construed wrongly. I was

  construed as lippy and arrogant. I’m not. Even my mother was taking flak for things I was supposed to have done and said. There was one letter in particular which hurt me. It was from a woman

  who wrote: ‘I can’t let my kids watch cricket any more because of the way you behave.’




  It all hit me hard. How could it not have done? I defy anyone to receive all that criticism without being affected. I was booed at grounds – so much so that I told my parents not to come

  to games – and I was being sworn at left, right and centre by the Indian players when I went out to bat. They knew that I couldn’t answer back, because I would be crucified again in the

  press if I did. And it all began to affect my form. It had to; I felt that everyone wanted me to fail.




  So it was little surprise that I had a poor game in that Test at The Oval. I dropped a couple of catches, one of them off V.V.S.Laxman and the other off Tendulkar, as India reached a huge total

  of 664. And, of course, much was made of the Tendulkar drop. He had made only 20 at the time, and went on to score 82. The edge was off Ryan Sidebottom (I dropped a few

  off him that year!) and I dived to my right but couldn’t hang on. I also let through quite a few byes in that total and made a first-innings duck with the bat. What a game! The only

  consolation was that we didn’t lose the game, it ended in a draw.




  Naturally I got slaughtered by the press, though. Most of them seemed happy that the gobby keeper had got his comeuppance. When asked about it, I responded by saying: ‘This week has been

  the hardest in my cricketing life, without a shadow of a doubt. My performance has been criticised, but I am still learning. Mistakes do happen – we’re all human. I’m still new to

  Test cricket, but there are always things you can work on. I want to have that feeling of getting a hundred again, to take five catches again, but then I get a nought and drop a high-profile player

  like Tendulkar.




  ‘You’re not going to every day walk out and feel a million dollars. But I am my own biggest critic and I’ll work very hard with Peter Moores and Andy Flower [then still the

  batting coach] to make sure I do make improvements. I don’t feel I have to suddenly criticise or scrutinise myself massively.’




  Not unexpectedly England did not give me a central contract (or any other keeper for that matter) at the end of that 2007 summer. Looking back now, I wonder how I even made it through to the Sri

  Lanka tour in the first part of that winter. I had to be dropped really. I couldn’t carry on for much longer in the state I had been in at the end of that summer. I was kidding myself.




  I kidded myself so well that, at the end of the Sri Lanka tour, by which time I had played ten Tests, I asked Mark Garaway, our team analyst, to look up the statistics of the great Test match

  batsmen/wicketkeepers such as Australia’s Adam Gilchrist, Sri Lanka’s Kumar Sangakkara and India’s Mahendra Singh Dhoni at the same stage of their careers so that we could compare

  my stats with theirs.
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